
 London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham 
 

 

Finance, Commercial Revenue and 
Contracts Policy & Accountability 

Committee 
 

Agenda 
 

Wednesday 31 March 2021 at 6.30 pm 
Online - Virtual Meeting 

 

MEMBERSHIP 
 

Administration: Opposition 

Councillor Helen Rowbottom (Chair) 
Councillor David Morton 
Councillor Patricia Quigley 
Councillor Guy Vincent 
 

Councillor Donald Johnson 
 

Co-optees 

Tony Boys 
Erik Hohenstein 
Chris Littmoden 
Judith Worthy 
 

 
A livestream of the meeting can be found here: Watch live on YouTube 
 
Agendas are available on the Council’s website: www.lbhf.gov.uk/committees 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
CONTACT OFFICER: Bathsheba Mall 

Committee Co-ordinator 
Governance and Scrutiny 

 : 07776672816 
 E-mail: bathsheba.mall@lbhf.gov.uk 

 
 
 

Date Issued: 23 March 2021 

https://youtu.be/Jug8LQeiiRU
https://www.lbhf.gov.uk/committees
mailto:bathsheba.mall@lbhf.gov.uk


London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham 
 

Finance, Commercial Revenue and Contracts 
Policy & Accountability Committee 

Agenda 
 

31 March 2021 
 
 
Item  Pages 

1.   MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING  
 

5 - 18 

 To approve as an accurate record, and the Chairman to sign the 
minutes of the meetings held on: 
 

 28 January 2021; and  

 18 November 2020. 
 

 

2.   APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  
 

 

3.   ROLL CALL AND DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 

 

 To confirm attendance, the Chair will perform a roll call. Members will 
also have the opportunity to declare any interests.  
 
If a Committee member has any prejudicial or personal interest in a 
particular item they should declare the existence and nature of the 
interest at the commencement of the consideration of that item or as 
soon as it becomes apparent. 
 
At meetings where members of the public are allowed to be in 
attendance and speak, any Councillor with a prejudicial interest may 
also make representations, give evidence or answer questions about 
the matter. The Councillor must then withdraw immediately from the 
meeting before the matter is discussed and any vote taken unless a 
dispensation has been obtained from the Standards Committee. 
 
Where Members of the public are not allowed to be in attendance, then 
the Councillor with a prejudicial interest should withdraw from the 
meeting whilst the matter is under consideration unless the disability has 
been removed by the Standards Committee. 
 

 

4.   H&F COUNCIL'S DRAFT EQUALITIES PLAN FOR 2021-2025  
 

19 - 44 

 This report alerts members to the recently launched draft Equalities Plan 
2021-2025, currently open to public consultation for a 12-week period 
until the end of April.  
 
 
 
 

 



5.   2022 BUDGET CONTEXT  
 

45 - 58 

 This report sets out the background to the medium term financial 
planning process, contextualised with an update on the national 
finances and the financial impact of ongoing austerity in Hammersmith & 
Fulham. 
 

 

6.   COMMITTEE WORK PROGRAMME  
 

 

 The Committee is requested to consider the items for the Work 
Programme and suggest any amendments or additional topics to be 
included in the future. 

 

 

7.   DATES OF FUTURE MEETINGS  
 

 

  Wednesday, 28 July 2021 

 Wednesday, 17 November 2021 

 Wednesday, 22 February 2022 

 

 



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

.  London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham 

Joint Finance, Commercial 
Revenue and Contracts; 

and Public Services 
Reform Policy & 

Accountability Committee  
Minutes 

 

Thursday 28 January 2021 
 

 

 
 
 

PRESENT 
 
Members of Finance and Commercial Revenue Policy and Accountability 
Committee (Finance Pac) 
 
Committee members: Councillors Helen Rowbottom (Co-Chair), Patricia Quigley, 
David Morton, Guy Vincent and Donald Johnson 
 
Co-opted members: Tony Boys (Community), Erik Hohenstein (Community), Chris 
Littmoden (Community) and Judith Worthy (Community) 
 
Public Services Reform Policy and Accountability Committee (PSRPAC) 
 
Committee members: Councillors Rowan Ree (Co-Chair), Christabel Cooper, Guy 
Vincent, Zarar Qayyum and Dominic Stanton 
 
Other councillors: Councillor Adam Connell 
 
Officers and guests: Tony Burton, Head of Finance (CHS and Education), 
Corporate Finance, Resources;  Prakash Daryanani, Head of Finance, Social Care; 
Christopher Harris, Emily Hill, Director of Finance, Resources; Andrew Lord, Head 
of strategic planning and monitoring; Corporate Finance, Resources; Cliff Parker, 
Assistant Director of Housing; Andre Mark, Finance Business Partner and 
Corporate Finance; Daniel Rochford, Head of Finance, Corporate Finance; and 
Kalsi Sukvinder, Head of Finance, Environment 

 
 

1. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  
 
There were no apologies for absence. 
 

Page 4

Agenda Item 1



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

2. ROLL CALL AND DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 
The Chair noted the attendance of members and no declarations of interest 
were reported.  
 

3. 2021 MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL STRATEGY  
 
Emily Hill provided an overview of the planned medium term financial strategy 
(MTFS) within the context of continued financial uncertainty regarding public 
expenditure.  Prior to Covid, there had been an indication that an uplift of 
4.5% in core spending power signalled a possible end to austerity.  However 
historic deep cuts had resulted in trying to deliver more services with less 
money.  Locally this reflected a need to balance demand led social care 
services within a restricted financial structure.  Council tax remained the third 
lowest nationally and significantly below the London average.  Council 
expenditure on social care equated to about half of the total expenditure of 
£86 million.  An inflationary increase of 4.1% reflected the fragility of the 
social care market and, within a tightening financial context, a deficit was 
expected this year with two thirds attributed to Covid.  A third lockdown had 
made it harder to deliver savings whilst supporting a Covid response. The 
allocated Covid grant had been received but not yet spent and held in grant 
for future years.  
 
Departmental budget proposals 
 
It was noted that for 2020/21 in terms of Covid implications, a fees and 
charges compensation scheme would partly fund council tax and business 
rate losses.  Local authorities would have to meet the first 5% followed by 75p 
in the pound there after.  The remainder would be met by the council and 
council tax losses would be spread over a three year period.  There had been 
a devasting impact on business rates reflecting the economic impact of Covid 
on local businesses and any shortfall in government funding would need to be 
met in reserves or from savings. There would be an increased budget gap in 
2021/22 and a reduced rate of business and household council tax collection 
was anticipated. Contingency funding for homeless had also been 
anticipated.  
 
It was important to recognise that financial uncertainty would continue. The 
increase in council tax reflected the government expectation to raise funds 
locally but the long term economic impact of Covid required further evaluation 
and linked to a corresponding reduction in local services.  The loss of the new 
homes grants as part of the national levelling up agenda redirecting funding 
away from urban areas represented a further reduction.  
 
Co-optee Tony Boys commented that despite the projections for economic 
recovery being cautious there was a possibility of a substantial recovery 
predicted for 2021.  He asked if this outcome had been including in the 
financial modelling and what the impact of a more positive recovery might 
look like in the MTFS.  Emily Hill explained that the MTFS took into account 
low interest rates which were likely to remain low even with recovery.  The 
social care market remained fragile and it was accepted that demand was set 

Page 5



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

to increase.  Any substantial recovery was not expected to impact and the 
MTFS also considered the impact of recovery on the short term support 
needed for families and there was no reliance on the revenue from business 
rates.  
 
Questions from the Committee 
 
With reference to the council’s Annual Report 2021/22 Tony Boys highlighted 
the £685 million secured from developers and asked what residents could 
expect in return for their council tax payments. Emily explained that more 
funding was available in growth or return on investment items, but this year 
was difficult and there were additional demands to consider in demand led 
services such as children’s service and social care.  Visible examples of 
council spending included wardens, CCTV, street cleaning and maintenance. 
There had been significant areas of community investment. In planning terms, 
section 106 funding had been negotiated by the Council, but this might be 
impacted by future planning reforms and developer contributions.  
 
Councillor Vincent welcomed the report and thanked officers for their 
presentation.  In terms of savings he asked if these might be achieved 
through job losses, what the extent of this might be and which areas of the 
council might they arise.  Emily Hill explained that this had been referenced in 
the MTFS in relation to staffing and productivity and included in the appendix 
detailing savings. Emily briefly outlined some of the restructuring that had 
been undertaken including within the finance teams and any vacant posts 
across the organisation had been removed.  Any further losses would be 
preceded by consultation, but potential job losses were not expected to be 
significant and redeployment support would be available to staff. 
 
Councillor Vincent asked if there had been any revenue generated through 
the commercialisation of services such as advertising. Emily Hill outlined a 
shift in focus, moving away from commercialisation within this year’s MTFS as 
given the impact of Covid. There was an increased focus on fees and charges 
and commercialisation would be limited to the planning service.  Advertising 
income was over £2 million and had not been impacted by Covid to date but 
profit shares would be limited.  There was a concern that when leases 
expired, they would not be re-let with lower revenue generated as a result.  It 
was confirmed that the 2021/22 outturn at month 6 projected a shortfall of 
£5.7 million, which would be mitigated on appeal and anticipated to achieve a 
significant reduction to £1 million.    

 
Councillor Ree probed the uncertainty around funding and reported that the 
PSRPAC had considered the impact of Covid expenditure and losses of 
£38.5 million. Emily Hill estimated that that the impact of Covid could be £43 
million impact, with £21 million on expenditure and a similar amount on losses 
but the majority will be funded by government. The government had provided 
the main, un-ringfenced grant in four tranches which were unpredictable, but 
it was possible that another that there would be another funding phase. There 
was little expectation that the government would fully fund the council’s Covid 
linked loss.  The first 5% would been met by the council, thereafter funding 
75p in the pound. There were specific Covid grants with money to fund 

Page 6



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

testing, but an outlay was needed to support this. This was about £1-3 million, 
and not the £30 million anticipated.   
 
Councillor Ree asked what the impact of Brexit had been and whether this 
had been considered in the final MTFS modelling. Emily Hill confirmed that 
there was an inflationary impact which would have been included but not 
specifically focused on Brexit.  There would be some higher costs for goods 
and services which could impacted by inflationary increases and this might 
mean relying on contingency planning.   
 
Co-optee Chris Littmoden commented on the clarity of papers provided and 
whether this could be improved for the next financial year and noted that the 
papers did not reference zero based budgeting which he felt would have been 
helpful to have included in the papers.  He welcomed the cost and trend 
analysis which afforded a clear financial picture of each of the departments 
and highlighted problem areas.  Referencing page 70, appendix 5, he 
highlighted the point that costs were now incorporated in resident services 
which were not easily identifiable.  This was essentially the customer services 
contact centre (moved in-house, with associated salary costs), and revenue 
and housing benefit teams.  It was agreed that further clarification would be 
provided as a follow up action.  Emily Hill also acknowledged that it would be 
helpful to consider the jargon and terminology used in the papers to improve 
the clarity of the information provided.  
 
Co-optee Erik Hohenstein sought further information about innovative and 
aspirational changes within social care service delivery with the introduction 
of artificial intelligence utilised in assisted technology touched on in the 
papers but not fully explored.  Similarly, there had been references made to 
the commercialisation of services and the anticipated uncertainty around 
advertising, both of which had also been briefly highlighted.  He was also 
keen to further explore the longer term role and responsibilities of the council 
in respect of Covid which in some cases, had been provided swiftly and 
constituted unplanned expenditure.  On a final point and in reference to Brexit 
he asked that if there were to be increases in services, to what extent was the 
exposure to pricing fluctuations, an issue that might occur in the third financial 
quarter.    
 
Prakash Daryanani clarified that in the context of social care, the innovations 
were focused on digitisation and not the commercialisation of services. 
Assisted technology was intended to improve the quality of life for residents 
and which would also include an expansion of the Careline service.  Assisted 
technology with artificial intelligence was very much in the early stages of 
planning but would afford residents greater independence, for example, using 
tablet devices to speak with social workers.   Emily Hill confirmed that zero 
based budget had offered significant insights and that a summary had been 
included in the papers but acknowledged that this could have been more 
explicit.  Members of the committees could be provided with information about 
the cost of resident services in more detail illustrated with examples of case 
studies and the figures included in contingency planning particularly in 
respect of the civic campus regeneration in terms of identified risks and 
opportunities.  There was consensus that this be an area of focus for the 

Page 7



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

Finance and Commercial Revenue PAC.  In terms of Covid, the focus was as 
much on revenue as on savings, but a prudent approach was required to 
increasing revenue.  The strategy to increase council tax indicated that this 
was also a budget that was focused on protecting the most vulnerable 
residents.  
  
Councillor Cooper referenced the reserves graph in the report which indicated 
a decline until 2023 and asked if this was due to the expected receipt of 
revenues from civic campus.  Emily Hill explained the move and leasing costs 
in transferring to Shortlands and clockworks had used a large portion of 
reserve to cover the leases.  The intention was to reconfigure the staff and 
customer interface and there would be a profit redistribution from the joint 
venture that would be used to fund the leases, facilitated by a clear break 
clause in the contracts to allow this.  It was acknowledged that Covid had 
delayed work on the civic campus but this was still on track to be delivered 
within the framework of the initial plan, although with some reprofiling.  Emily 
Hill confirmed that there was an expectation that some savings would be 
achieved in 2023.  
 
A follow up question from Councillor Stanton sought clarification about the 
long term impact of Covid on the leasehold of the Shortlands site and the 
extent of any reprofiling of the campus.  Emily Hill confirmed that the plans 
were unchanged but significant work had been undertaken on the return of 
staff to the civic campus.  Modelling had included the experience of Covid and 
the adjustment to work patterns could inform a wider accommodation review.  
Emily Hill stated that there were risks inherent with any large scale capital 
development included the possibility of incurring additional or increased costs 
which had been mitigated against, but contractual agreements meant that 
much of these will be met by the contractor.  Flexibility had been incorporated 
into the new layout of the building to afford greater adaptability to reflect 
future working patterns and access to the site.  Given the combined points 
around the staff consultation on the development of the campus and 
modelling, there was consensus to agree this as an area of focus. Councillor 
Vincent welcomed Emily Hill’s clarification that the £11 million of revenue 
generated through the joint venture would eventually go in to reserves in 
2023. The increased size of the reserves reflected a requirement of the 
auditors that the council implement a larger safety buffer.   
 
In response to a question from Councillor Vincent, Emily Hill confirmed that 
agency costs had significantly reduced from £25 million in 2019 but that the 
target of £12.5 million for the current year end would not be achieved this 
year due to the cost of employing agency staff in response to Covid.  Rhian 
Davis confirmed that the cost of agency staff to date was £13.4 million largely 
due to Covid but this was a substantial improvement on previous years. A 
policy of limiting agency costs would continue to help achieve a planned 
reduction.  Chris Littmoden observed that agency staff should be sought if 
their appointments represented good value for money.   
 
Councillor Quigley sought further information about the ongoing delivery of 
the civic campus work and whether staff would be engaged in the 
development of the campus.  Emily Hill confirmed the importance of an 

Page 8



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

inclusive approach to staff consultation.  Tony Clements added that the 
opportunities to lease space long term had been considered, which included 
an analysis of future workforce patterns, particularly in terms of how staff 
worked in relation to space and building structure. As indicated earlier, 
officers provided an assurance that they would support the committee’s 
further exploration of this issue. Judith Worthy commented that staff 
engagement was important and required the input of a representative and 
diverse workforce.  It was noted that PAC members should also have 
oversight of staff engagement work and that in addition this should also 
include members and residents.  
 
Erik Hohenstein advocated for a strategy to bridge the gap between austerity 
and raising council tax rates.  He referenced Council Leader Stephen 
Cowan’s comments, following years of austerity, supporting a freeze on 
council tax to protect the most vulnerable in the borough following years of. 
Emily Hill explained that the officer perspective on council tax was apolitical 
and that any increase beyond government expectation required a 
referendum.  Councillor Connell responded that he would not presume to 
speak on behalf of either Councillor Schmid or Councillor Cowan, however 
the current, difficult circumstances provoked a necessary increase in council 
tax to meet this challenge.  It was agreed that the Finance PAC invite the 
Leader to a future meeting to discuss council tax strategy given that the 
increase for 2021/22 reflected a departure from previous council tax policies.  
 
To conclude the discussion, the Chair, with the agreement of officers and 
members, summarised the actions as: 
 

1. Detailed summary of what is the “more” that residents can expect in 
terms of services that are recognisable to residents. 

2. Information about operational opportunities to generate revenue and 
the commercialisation of services, recognising that this might be 
challenging until the market begins to recover. 

3. The impact of Brexit on the goods and services market, how this will 
affect future business growth and how to generate opportunities within 
H&F within this climate.   

4. Simplify the language of local government finance and statistics into 
easy to understand language. 

5. A more explicit summary of the council’s zero-based budget focus. 
6. Information about the cost of “resident services” and what this referred 

to. 
7. A better understanding of the details of “contingency” planning about 

the civic campus redevelopment plan and the risks and opportunities 
within this.  This would be an area work that could be addressed by a 
small working group.  

8. Civic campus development – to ensure that detailed engagement is 
undertaken with staff about the new campus and its development.  

9. For the PAC to be provided with examples of case studies that will 
contextualise the impact of revenue and savings outlined in the report, 
with a view to better undertaking future scrutiny budget reviews.   

10. Linked to action 8, a key example would be the proposal to increase 
council tax for 21/22 and how this decision reflects the council’s 

Page 9



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

strategic position.  The PAC would like further insight into the policy 
drivers for administrations the decision to increase council tax in line 
with government expectation. The PAC would welcome a presentation 
at a future meeting of the committee from either the Leader or the 
Cabinet Member for Finance and Commercial about the change in 
policy.  

11. For the co-optees to be engaged in ongoing policy development, 
focusing on the funding of adult social care against the backdrop of 
Covid-19.  To explore the funding settlement in greater detail and to 
understand and respond to the future development of the governments 
green paper on adult social care provision (September 2019).   

12. For Finance PAC to receive a report on the experience of Croydon’s 
section 114 notice. 

 
 

 
Meeting started: 6.30pm 
Meeting ended: 8.32pm 

 
 

Chairman   

 
 
 
 

Contact officer: Bathsheba Mall 
Committee Co-ordinator 
Governance and Scrutiny 

 : 07776672816 
 E-mail: bathsheba.mall@lbhf.gov.uk 
 

Page 10



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

.  London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham 

Finance, Commercial Revenue and Contracts Policy 
& Accountability Committee 

Minutes 
 

Wednesday 18 November 2020 
 

 

 
 

PRESENT 
 
Committee members: Councillors PJ Murphy (Chair), Patricia Quigley, 
Fiona Smith, Guy Vincent and Donald Johnson 
 
Co-opted members: Tony Boys (Community), Erik Hohenstein (Community), Chris 
Littmoden (Community) and Judith Worthy (Community) 
 
Other Councillors: Councillors Stephen Cowan (Leader of the Council), Sue 
Fennimore (Deputy Leader) and Max Schmid (Cabinet Member for Finance and 
Commercial Services)  
 
Officers:  
Kim Smith – Chief Executive 
Lisa Redfern – Strategic Director of Social Care 
Rhian Davies – Director of Resources 
Emily Hill – Director of Finance 
Jacqui McShannon – Director of Children’s Services  
Tony Clements - Interim Strategic Director for Economy 
Prakash Daryanani - Head of Finance (Social Care and Public Health) 
Bram Kainth - Chief Officer - Public Realm 
Ian Hawthorne - AD Env. Special Projects and Highways 
Sukvinder Kalsi - Head of Finance (Environment) 

 
1. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  

 
There were no apologies for absence.  
 

2. ROLL CALL AND DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 
The Chair carried out a roll call to confirm attendance. There were no 
declarations of interest. 
 

3. MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING  
 
The minutes of the meeting held on 5 October 2020 were approved and 
signed by the Chair subject to the following amendments: - 
 
Page 6 - should read Erik Hohenstein was of the view that the council needs 
to be more innovative in raising alternative revenue so that the council can 
continue to support the less fortunate. 

Page 11



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

  
Page 7: (last para) add to the end of the statement “what did the future hold 
for the residents on the estates” and whether the council had and would 
continually invest in the estate so that it was not a victim of the setbacks 
through this development and hiatus. 
 

 Financial Impact of Covid-19 on the Council 
 
Councillor Vincent asked for a budget update position. Emily Hill (Director of 
Finance) reported that some more government grants had been announced 
since the last meeting. The forecast has been reviewed again. There is a total 
impact of £13.7 million on the budget consisting of £2.5m on the general fund 
for this fiscal year, £3.3m on the housing revenue account and £7.9m on the 
collection fund which would be spread over the next 3 years. The 
Government will also take this shortfall into account during our annual grants 
settlement, but we are not sure whether it would be fully funded. These 
figures do not include significant 2nd lockdown additional costs and as a result 
the position is expected to get worse.  
 
For example, parking and traffic enforcement income was modelled for a 4 – 
6 weeks lockdown resulting in a £11 million deficit. However, the impact of the 
2nd lockdown on parking income has not been as severe as people are still 
travelling. We will monitor the changing position as conditions changes or 
additional government funding is announced. 
 
Tony Boys requested for a report on the relationship between traffic and 
income in respect of potential changes to the congestion zone, emission 
zone, the government’s direction towards electric vehicles and impact on the 
continued closure of the Bridge. He asked for the report to also explore how 
to make the best use of traffic income across the borough. 
 
Chris Littmoden asked for clarification on how much COVID 19 funding had 
been received from the Government to date. Emily noted that £18m had been 
received in 4 tranches of ring-fenced government grants.  
 
Action - Report on the relationship between traffic and income in respect of 
potential changes to the congestion zone, emission zone, the government’s 
direction towards electric vehicles and impact on the continued closure of the 
Bridge. 
 
Kalsi Sukvinder - Head of Finance (Environment)  
 

 Review of Termination of The Conditional Land Sale Agreement 
 
Councillor Murphy recalled that ex Council Leaders - Lord Greenhalgh and Mr 
Botterill did not attend the last meeting to contribute to the discussion on the 
termination of the land sale agreement. He had subsequently heard from Lord 
Greenhalgh. The exchange of correspondence will be circulated.  
 
Action – Exchange of emails to be circulated to Members.  
 

Page 12



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

Councillor PJ Murphy  
 

 Civic Campus Programme 
 
Councillor Murphy noted that David Burns and Jo Rowland who were the most 
involved and knowledgeable about the programme had left the Council. This 
had to be flagged in the Campus programme’s risk register as a key man 
dependency risk. 
 
Action – Key man dependency risk to be flagged in the risk register. 
 
Matt Rumble – Head of Regeneration  
 

4. PUBLIC PARTICIPATION  
 
No public questions were received. 
 

5. MANAGING ADULT SOCIAL CARE SERVICES AND FINANCES DURING 
COVID-19  
 
Lisa Redfern, (Strategic Director of Social Care), gave a presentation on how 
Adult Social Care is managing its services and finances during Covid-19. 
 
The department has a net budget of £55 million with circa 205 full time 
equivalent staff. Adult social care supports around 2,400 people with 525 
living in care homes. Most residents live in the community with the support 
they need. Social care has one of the biggest budgets in the Council which is 
volatile and difficult to manage under the best of circumstances, made even 
more so, during this pandemic. A large amount of funding received by the 
government was spent on PPE (Personal Protective Equipment), over £2 
million, supporting residents living in the community, living in care homes, and 
given directly to care home providers. 
 
She noted the good news, that the Pfizer, Covid-19 vaccination programme, 
will commence in December 2020, for care home residents, care staff, and 
extra care and supported living residents. In January 2021, the AstraZeneca 
vaccination, which is more portable, will target people over 80 and people 
with disabilities, their support staff, and key workers in the community. 
 
Prakash Daryanani, (Head of Finance - Social Care and Public Health), 
clarified that the department’s gross budget is £92.7 million with an income of 
£38 million obtained from government grants and contribution from the NHS. 
Social care is on track to balance its budget with just over £300,000 
overspend at present and is on target to meet its £2.4 million savings target. 
 
The Chair thanked Lisa and her staff for what they had delivered under intense 
pressure. 
 
Tony Boys asked whether the Council was able to leverage local networks 
like Nextdoor to deliver services to the vulnerable. Lisa reported how over the 
last few months local residents and council staff have worked together much 

Page 13



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

more closely. Social care staff have been based in the H&F CAN (Community 
Action Network) for months now, which has worked very well and streamlined 
delivery. By working together with volunteers and community groups, we will 
be able to continue to improve service delivery, build upon the excellent work 
and provide a more collaborative and cost-effective service. Tony was of the 
view that COVID had brought about a more tolerant and helpful society. 
 
Councillor Quigley thanked the officers for all their hard work and asked if 
Lisa had a wish list with no expense spared what would she do? The 
Committee was informed that the reform of social care would be the top 
priority. Social care is about providing support to people to enable them to live 
at home. She would like to improve care support, increase the quality and 
standard of support for people and have a higher quality workforce. A 
workforce with parity with NHS staff. 
 
Councillor Vincent congratulated the team for all the wonderful things they 
had done for the community. 
 
Eric Hohenstein asked whether the savings made had led to a reduction in 
services and what reductions had been introduced due to COVID. Lisa 
responded that the Council had not made any cuts to services and there are 
no plans to do so. Their role is to ensure that the right care follows the right 
person. Officers are looking at several ways to change the delivery models 
such as more collaboration with health colleagues and the community to 
improve services. 
 
In response to various questions from Councillor Murphy, officers responded 
that the net savings were £2.4 million. The support to the market had brought 
stronger relationship with care providers, expectations are now clearer and 
will help with future contract negotiations. The Council now has a closer view 
on the activity undertaken by the providers. This will give us a better 
understanding of provision and the amount of care required in future. The 
transition team is now working with children at an earlier age before they 
move to adult social care. The transition budget is currently overspent. LGA 
(Local Government Association) is lobbying the Government for more funding 
from the NHS to support hospital discharge.  
 
The Chair on behalf of the Committee commended how well the finance and 
client department have worked well together. He once again thanked all the 
officers for their hard work.  
 

6. HAMMERSMITH BRIDGE - VERBAL UPDATE  
 
Emily Hill (Director of Finance) gave a verbal update on the Hammersmith 
Bridge. She noted that Hammersmith Bridge is an essential element of the 
London-wide and national strategic transport infrastructure. It is a strategic 
and historical asset which provides economic and social benefits across West 
London and more widely. Most of the Thames road bridges are not the 
responsibility of London Boroughs. Bridges across London have historically 
been funded by TfL (Transport for London). The precedent is for national 
funding of bridges as key infrastructure assets. 

Page 14



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

 
The Council itself faces significant financial pressures considering funding 
reductions and the impact of Covid-19 with significant uncertainty over future 
government funding due to increased demand and pressures on services. 
The bridge’s repair costs will be significant. The stabilization repairs will cost 
£46 million which will allow the bridge to be reopened to pedestrian and cycle 
traffic and allow river traffic to pass under it but not motor vehicle traffic. It will 
cost £143 million for motor vehicle traffic to cross over. 
 
Several formal requests/bids have been submitted to the government for 
funding. The Council continues to press for confirmation of funding through 
the Hammersmith Bridge Taskforce.  
 
Ongoing expenditure is required for safety inspections, monitoring systems 
and necessary minor maintenance. All expenditure from 2010/11 to 2018/19 
was funded by TfL. The Council spent £1.2 million last year which is an 
outstanding TfL debt. For 2020/21, £2.7m has been incurred in 20/21 (full 
year impact) at risk. We expect at least part of this to be reimbursed by TfL 
and Port of London Authority. There was an urgent Leader’s decision on 1 
September for the purchase of a temperature control system requiring 
£420,000 capital investment and annual maintenance costs of £417,000.  
 
The Council is facing immense pressure with a 54% decrease in grants over 
the past 10 years. With significant uncertainty over future spending review of 
social care funding and business rates, and not knowing what our 2021/22 
grant settlement would be, the Council cannot commit to such a significant 
capital investment especially with our levels of reserves. In the current 
climate, it is important to have a level of reserves to manage financial shocks 
and meet any unforeseen expenditure. 
 
Councillor Murphy noted that the running cost would be £2.7m and asked 
despite several announcements made by the Government and politicians that 
the money would be released or in place why are things not moving forward 
as well we would like? The Leader responded that the Government had 
stated to the Richmond Park MP that Shaun Bailey will receive the money 
and the bridge would be fixed. He was surprised that the Government had 
ignored the Council’s submitted plan and bids. He noted that an ex-Leader of 
the Council had tweeted that the Council should borrow and use our reserves 
to fund the bridge. It would cost the Council £7m a year to finance such 
borrowing. With the current pressures on Children’s services and Social Care 
budgets it would not be prudent to use reserves to fund bridge repairs. With 
many councils are on the verge of bankruptcy, the Council needs to ensure 
that it has funds to meet its commitments. The Council does not have 
sufficient reserves to fund this project. The Government must fund the bridge 
repairs.  
 
He observed that the Taskforce had met a couple of times but surprisingly the 
key issue of finance had not been discussed. He had expected the Taskforce 
to wrap up their discussions within a few weeks as the Council had submitted 
detailed plans for their consideration. He noted a proposed scheme to repair 
the four pedestals for £4m each. The proposal was to wrap a band around the 

Page 15



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

pedestals where the super micro fractures had been identified. But this could 
put lives at risk particularly if the bridge collapsed. The Council cannot take 
such risk and will be guided by the recommendations of the experts who 
would determine when it is safe to reopen it.  
 
In response to a question from Councillor Vincent on the impact of the bridge 
closure on the loss of parking income and the damage to the local economy, 
Emily responded that it was difficult to tell and to separate out the effect from 
Covid-19 and the effect of the bridge closure, the first expected to have the 
biggest impact. 
 
Councillor Vincent noted that he had heard that TfL previously had Bridge 
fund which could have been used for situations like this, but the money had 
been spent on the Garden Bridge by the previous Mayor. The Leader noted 
that the Bridge fund was not substantial. The previous Mayor spent £63m on 
the Garden bridge. TfL pays for bridge repairs. Tony inquired if the council 
had done an exercise to explore private equity funding for the bridge based 
on tolls.  The Leader responded that the Council is looking at potential private 
equity options to fund the bridge repairs. TfL and Richmond Council do not 
want a toll bridge as it could shift traffic to other areas. The introduction of toll 
would require an act of parliament. If a toll is considered, the Council is keen 
for H&F residents to be exempt from such payment.  
 
In response to Eric Hohenstein’s question, on the bridge’s governance and 
what are the risk involved, the Leader noted that the work is sensitive. We 
need a replacement commitment from the Government to work with TfL and 
Richmond Council to find a long-term solution. The Council is looking at 
private sector options. Councillor Murphy found it staggering that the 
government could pay a go-between £21m to arrange PPE contracts but did 
not have the money to pay for the bridge. 
 
Councillor Schmid noted that a report on the Council’s reserves will be 
submitted to the Committee soon. The Council’s reserves are lower than most 
London Borough’s. Despite this, it will be used to fund COVID wave 2 
expenditure and PPE costs. Reserves are around £80m. This figure includes 
cash balances and earmarked reserves. Councillor Schmid referred to a 
misleading article written about the Council’s investment balances with other 
local authorities and explained that the figures quoted had misinterpreted the 
government statistics. The Committee will also consider the Council’s 
Treasury management report. As part of the Treasury management strategy, 
the Council can lend to other local authorities with a £200m limit. The 
Council’s resources are professionally managed with the reduced grants and 
COVID pressures. Judith Worthy noted that the reserves report will highlight 
the components of the reserves which makes up the £80m. 
 
The Chair informed the meeting that he would be taking up a new role at the 
Annual Council meeting and thanked all the members and officers particularly 
the Co-opted Members who he had work with over the years. 
 
Action – Reports to be submitted to the Committee: -  

 The Council’s Reserves  

Page 16



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

 The Council’s Treasury management  
 

7. COMMITTEE WORK PROGRAMME  
 
The work programme was noted. 
 

8. DATES OF FUTURE MEETINGS  
 

 Thursday 28 January 2021  

 Tuesday 31 March 2021 
 

 
Meeting started: 6.30 pm 
Meeting ended: 8.36 pm 

 
 

Chairman   

 
 

Contact officer: Kayode Adewumi 
Committee Co-ordinator 
Governance and Scrutiny 

 : 07899661869 
 E-mail: kayode.adewumi@lbhf.gov.uk 
 

Page 17



LONDON BOROUGH OF HAMMERSMITH & FULHAM 

 
Report to: 

 
Finance, Commercial Revenue and Contracts Policy 
and Accountability Committee 

Date: 

 
31 March 2021 

Subject: 

 
Opportunity to comment on the Council’s draft 
Equalities Plan, setting the inclusion agenda for 2021-
2025 

 
Report Author: 

 
Dawn Aunger, Assistant Director of Transformation, 
Talent and Inclusion 

 
Responsible Directors: 

 
Jacqui McShannon, Director of Children Services,  
Rhian Davies, Director of Resources  

 

 
Summary  
 
This report alerts members to the recently launched draft Equalities Plan 2021-2025, 

currently open to public consultation for a 12-week period until the end of April.   

 

 
Recommendation 
 

The Committee is asked to note and comment on the draft Equalities Plan, which will 

reframe and set the borough direction for progressing equality of opportunity over the 

next four years.  

 

 

H&F Priorities  Summary of how this report aligns to the H&F 
Priorities   

Creating a compassionate 
council  

We are a council that acts with compassion. Our vision 
is to become the most inclusive borough in the country. 
We are committed to tackling unfairness and ensuring 
the most vulnerable among us are looked after, 
including as part of our response to Covid-19.  

Doing things with residents, 
not to them 

Residents are at the heart of our draft Equalities Plan for 
2021-25. We are committed to residents developing and 
co-producing council policies and strategies that impact 
on their lives, so they are valued and we remove 
barriers to participation.  

Building shared prosperity Consideration of the needs of people who are 
disadvantaged or suffer inequality is central to the Public 
Sector Equalities Duty. Through considering equalities, 
diversity and inclusion implications at every stage of the 
decision-making process and creating targeted 

Page 18

Agenda Item 4



programmes where necessary, we seek to remove 
barriers and ensure that all can share in prosperity.  

Taking pride in H&F 
 
 

Our actions and policies for equalities, diversity and 
inclusion celebrate and protect the diversity of the 
borough, creating a place we can all be proud of. 

Being ruthlessly financially 
efficient 

Working with and valuing the contributions of residents 
leads to services which better meet the needs of our 
population in a financially efficient way.  

Rising to the challenge of 
the climate and ecological 
emergency 

Providing opportunities for training and employment are 
central to the Equalities Plan (particularly objectives 3 
and 4). A green new deal will help recovery from the 
employment effects of Covid by creating new jobs and 
skills.   

 
Introduction 

 

1. Equalities, diversity and inclusion is at the heart of what H&F is about, both as a 

place and a council. That’s why we have a Cabinet Lead for Social Inclusion 

(the Deputy Leader), are the only local authority to have abolished home care 

charges for adult social care and we also provide free breakfasts to all school-

age children. 

 

2. Our vision is to become the most inclusive borough in the country, where 

residents feel valued, welcome and included, embracing the diversity of 

backgrounds, experiences and perspectives. 

 
3. In 2020, the Covid-19 pandemic highlighted inequalities more than at any other 

time in a generation, making this work more important than ever and has 

dominated the inclusion agenda. Examples of this work, have included 

addressing language barriers to spread the stay at home message; supporting 

children and families to access education; tackling vaccine hesitancy; 

supporting residents whose incomes have been significantly impacted; and 

supporting vulnerable, particular older, residents, to shield. The launch of ‘H&F 

Can’ in March of 2020 underpinned and co-ordinated the support provided to 

and needed by residents during the pandemic and gave an in-depth and 

comprehensive understanding of the inequalities some residents face. 

 
4. Following the success of the resident lead Disabled peoples’ commission, we 

have been working in partnership with disabled residents on the new Civic 

campus project to ensure it becomes the most inclusive and accessible building 

possible. All senior staff and Cabinet Members have been provided with 

training on the social model of disability as recommended by the commission. 

5. After the murder of George Floyd in America in May 2020, evidence of racial 

inequalities and ethnic disparities became further highlighted. The impact of the 

Page 19



pandemic raised clear health inequalities for many communities within the 

borough. These areas of work are a key focus. 

6. The Equalities Plan will provide focus and a framework for inclusion activities 

over the next four years.  

 
7. Members should note that equalities work is well embedded in all departments, 

with equalities implications detailed in every policy and expenditure report as a 

key part of the decision-making process.  

Background 
 
8. H&F is one of the most diverse local authorities in the country. It has a young, 

diverse and mobile population, with the sixth highest mobility rate in London. 

 

9. While parts of the borough are among the least 

deprived and most affluent, there are pockets of 

deprivation. Overall, in 2019 H&F was ranked the 

112th most deprived local authority in England 

according to the national deprivation index which 

looks at measures including living environment, 

housing, crime, income, employment, health and 

education.   

 
10. The borough is split into 113 parts, each 

comprised of around 1,550 residents or 700 

households. Only one of these (Clem Attlee 

estate) is ranked in the 10% most deprived 

nationally. Some 17% are ranked in the next band, 

10-20% most deprived. These areas are mostly in 

the north of the borough including College Park & 

Old Oak and Wormholt & White City wards, but 

also in parts of Hammersmith and north Fulham.  

 
11. This is an improvement from the previous two 

datasets in 2015 and 2010, where H&F was ranked 91st and 55th most deprived 

respectively. 

 

12. The northern part of H&F is more ethnically diverse than the southern part, with 

diversity greatest in younger age groups. 43% of its residents were born 

outside of the UK, coming from over 100 different countries.  

 

Page 20



13. In mid-2020, 35% of the borough’s residents were estimated to be from an 

ethnic group other than white (up from 32% in 2011).  12% of our population 

are from a Black background, 10% Asian, 7% Arab & Other, and 6% Mixed. 

Launching the 2021-25 H&F Equalities Plan Consultation 
 
14. Steered by the Deputy Leader, our equalities plan seeks to deliver measurable 

improvements.  

 

15. There are nine ‘protected characteristics’ set out in the Equalities 

Act 2010: age, disability, gender reassignment, marriage and civil partnership, 

pregnancy and maternity, race, religion or belief, sex and sexual orientation. 

The Act sets out the public sector equality duty to ensure public authorities 

think about the needs of people who are disadvantaged or suffer inequality 

when making decisions about how they provide services and implement 

policies. Our plan seeks to promote equality of opportunity for all.    

 
16. We’ve launched a 12-week public consultation1 of our draft Equalities Plan 

2021-25 which is open until the 30th of April on the council’s consultation 

platform Citizenspace. 

 
17. We’re asking residents to comment on the draft five key objectives.   

                                            
1
 For those not able to access the embedded hyperlink, the consultation can be found at 

https://www.lbhf.gov.uk/equality  

Page 21

https://lbhf.citizenspace.com/hf/equality/
https://www.lbhf.gov.uk/sites/default/files/section_attachments/1132_hf_draft_equalities_plan_web.pdf
https://www.lbhf.gov.uk/sites/default/files/section_attachments/1132_hf_draft_equalities_plan_web.pdf
https://www.lbhf.gov.uk/equality


I. Everyone in our borough must feel valued when the Covid-19 pandemic 
ends  

 
The Covid-19 pandemic has highlighted 
the importance and impact of community 
wellbeing and collaboration. Our goal is to 
keep this at the heart of our public health 
response and draw on it to strengthen 
wider community and social cohesion.  

II. Removing barriers to inclusion   
 

Our objective is to establish H&F as the 
most accessible and inclusive borough in 
the country. Following the 
recommendation of our local Disabled 
People’s Commission, led by local 
Disabled residents, our aim is for all 
residents to be involved in developing and 
co-producing all council policies and 
strategies that impact on their lives. 

III. Ensuring that our services tackle the disproportionate impact on young 
people of the risks of street crime and exploitation by gangs  

 
We want to make sure that all children and young people at risk of 
gangs and street crime receive the critical services and interventions 
available to better equip them to secure positive opportunities and 
bright futures.   

IV. Improving opportunities for all   
 

We want to create opportunities for residents and communities of all 
backgrounds to flourish, developing their skills and abilities in their 
chosen career paths.  

V. Becoming an employer of choice and fostering greater inclusion 
 

We want to recruit from all sections of our community to ensure that the 
council’s workforce reflects the borough’s diversity whilst creating an 
environment where all staff feel secure and confident in being 
themselves. 

18. Everyone is encouraged to participate in the survey. Equalities, Diversity and 

Inclusion is a corporate commitment and underpins all our priorities and 

practice and we want to ensure a high profile and active engagement across 

our borough.  A full report is going to the Public Services Reform Policy and 

Accountability Committee on 7 April which reflects the range of work already in 

train across the council.   

Page 22

https://www.lbhf.gov.uk/sites/default/files/section_attachments/1132_hf_draft_equalities_plan_web.pdf
https://lbhf.citizenspace.com/hf/equality/consultation/subpage.2021-01-20.6561739956/


Appendices  
 
Appendix 1 - Draft Equalities Plan 2021 - 2025  

Page 23



Consultation on our 
Draft Equalities Plan 
2021-25

We’re committed to addressing 
inequalities in our borough

Page 24



2 | Consultation on our Draft Equalities Plan 2021-25

Contents
H&F Draft Equalities Plan – Foreword from Councillor Sue Fennimore 3

Fairness and Equality at the heart of what we do 5

Who can participate in this consultation? 7

Our Draft Equalities Plan – the protected characteristics 8

Our draft objectives 9

Objective 1 – Everyone in our borough must feel valued when 
the Covid-19 pandemic ends 9

Objective 2 – Removing barriers to inclusion 11

Objective 3 – Ensuring that our services tackle the disproportionate 
impact on young people of the risks of street crime and exploitation by gangs 13

Objective 4 – Improving opportunities for all 15

Objective 5 – Becoming an employer of choice and fostering greater inclusion 17

How the council is doing as an employer – a snapshot 19

Front cover: CommUnity Day marchers arrive in Ravenscourt Park for the celebration. 
This page: Residents enjoy a Black History Month event, Hammersmith & Fulham Foodbank volunteers work 
to distribute parcels at Olympia London, and Free school lunches underway at Fulham Cross Academy.

Page 25



 Consultation on our Draft Equalities Plan 2021-25 | 3

H&F Draft Equalities Plan 
Foreword from Councillor Sue Fennimore
We’re committed to making Hammersmith & Fulham the 
most inclusive borough in the country; a place where everyone 
feels valued and residents have equal access to the opportunities 
our borough offers. I believe that local government should 
change people’s lives for the better – it can and it does. 
Fundamental to achieving that is identifying and dismantling 
inequalities that hold us back.

The council has a major role to play, both in tackling 
inequality and in creating new opportunities. 
That’s why we’re working hard and have created 
an Industrial Strategy that responds to the needs 
of young people and provides access to future 
growth sector careers, such as digital media and 
STEM (Science, Technology, Engineering and Maths) 
industries amongst other projects and policies that 
create a strong and inclusive environment.

We want to hear your views as part of this 
consultation, we don’t have all the answers but 
we’re committed to doing things with residents 
not to them. We want to hear the barriers you or 
others may face and how you believe they can be 
tackled. We believe that if we work together we can 
develop new policies that really go to the heart of 
the barriers that our residents face and together, 
we can address them.

We’ve set out our vision for tackling inequality. 
It has five draft objectives:

1. Everyone in our borough must feel valued 
when the Covid-19 pandemic ends.

2. Removing barriers to inclusion.
3. Ensuring that our services tackle the 

disproportionate impact on young people of the 
risks of street crime and exploitation by gangs.

4. Improving opportunities for all.
5. Becoming an employer of choice and fostering 

greater inclusion.

But we want to know what you think. Are these the 
right objectives for H&F’s Equalities Plan? What else 
should we include?

The council has already made great strides over 
the last seven years in addressing inequality by 
tackling issues ranging from food poverty, crime 
and discrimination to loneliness and homelessness. 
We’ve also supported and helped local businesses, 
generated employment and educational 
opportunities and we continuously promote social 
cohesion. We put compassion at the heart of 
everything we do.

But we can do more
The corona virus pandemic has put into stark 
relief the inequalities that still persist within our 
communities – disproportionate numbers of 
people from our Black, Asian and Minority Ethnic 
communities have lost their lives and the most 
deprived communities have been the hardest hit, 
both economically and in terms of unemployment 
and worsening mental health. We also know that 
working women and female carers have borne 
a disproportionate impact and that our Disabled 
residents face new and specific challenges.

But this pandemic has also revealed the 
strength in our communities as illustrated by the 
army of volunteers who have provided food, 
company and support to those in our community 
who needed it most.

When we emerge from this pandemic, we have 
an opportunity to not only build back better, but to 
build back fairer. Please let us know how you think 
we can achieve that.

Councillor Sue Fennimore
Deputy Leader Hammersmith & Fulham Council

Page 26



4 | Consultation on our Draft Equalities Plan 2021-25
Page 27



 Consultation on our Draft Equalities Plan 2021-25 | 5

Fairness and Equality 
at the heart of what we do
Hammersmith & Fulham Council puts 
fairness, equality and compassion at the 
heart of everything we do. Here’s a 
snapshot of some of our recent work:

In 2019, we started providing free school breakfasts 
for all our primary school children and pilots in two 
secondary schools, to help them reach their full 
potential. We already provide free home care for all 
our Disabled and older residents, and, in partnership 
with local charities, a free Christmas meal to the 
over 60s, which helps to tackle loneliness and 
isolation at a critical time. Supporting our residents 
always come first, but we’re also proud that we 
were able to offer sanctuary to unaccompanied 
refugee children many of whom were stranded in 
terrible conditions in camps in mainland Europe.

This borough celebrates our residents’ diversity, 
whether during Black History Month, Inter 
Faith Week or UK Disability History Month and 
throughout the year. Our International Women’s 
Day celebrations are important to us and last 
year we promoted a full community programme 
marking 16 Days of Gender-Based Activism.

We proudly fly the EU flag over our Town 
Hall because we value our EU citizens and the 
contribution they have made to our communities 
over generations.

We work hard to tackle all forms of discrimination 
and prejudice and we launched CommUnity Day 
in response to the spike in hate crime we witnessed 
after the Brexit Referendum. It’s our answer to 
efforts to divide our communities and provides an 
opportunity to come together in celebration of our 
borough’s rich multicultural heritage.

These events are important symbols of our 
determination to tackle inequality, but they are not 

only symbolic. Through our ambitious Industrial 
Strategy: ‘Economic Growth for Everyone,’ which 
will shape our post-Covid-19 recovery efforts, we’re 
determined to provide educational and employment 
opportunities across our borough through 
apprenticeship incentives and employment support 
for local residents.

Our Town Hall redevelopment is being co-produced 
with a group of Disabled residents to make sure it 
is the most accessible and inclusive Civic Campus in 
Britain allowing everyone to share in the prosperity 
it will bring.

And we take our responsibilities as a large local 
employer seriously too, with a diverse workforce 
across all grades including senior management and 
a focus on inclusive and responsive services, solutions 
and opportunities that address the needs of people 
who are faced with disadvantage or inequalities.

Previous page: Our efforts to challenge violence against women and girls included 16 days of activism as part of an international 
campaign, Lord Alf Dubs and Vanessa Redgrave joined local refugees to celebrate Refugee Week, an International Women’s Day event, 
our campaign to encourage EU citizens in H&F to apply for full settlement rights before Brexit. This page: Black History Month.

Page 28



6 | Consultation on our Draft Equalities Plan 2021-25
Page 29



 Consultation on our Draft Equalities Plan 2021-25 | 7

Who can participate in 
this consultation?
Everyone!
Hammersmith & Fulham is one of the most diverse 
places in the country, home to communities of 
people with different identities, cultures, languages 
and traditions including some of the poorest and 
some of the wealthiest in London.

We encourage participation from all sections of our 
diverse community, irrespective of age, disability, 
sex, gender reassignment, pregnancy and maternity, 
race, religion or belief, sexual orientation, or because 
someone is married or in a civil partnership.

We believe our borough will be a better, more 
creative and innovative place to work, visit and 
live in if we can actively listen to lots of different 
perspectives, so please tell us what you think.

We’ll produce an updated final plan once we’ve 
considered your views and ideas.

Take part in our survey
We’ve drafted five objectives for our H&F Equalities 
Plan 2021-25 in response to our public sector 
equalities duty. We’re serious about achieving 
measurable and sustainable change. 

We would welcome your feedback on the 
following questions:

• Are these the right objectives for 
H&F’s Equalities Plan?

• What else should we include?

To take part and improve Hammersmith 
& Fulham Council, please visit: 
www.lbhf.gov.uk/equality

This consultation will be open from 
1 February 2021 until midnight on 
30 April 2021.

Accessing the H&F website
We’re committed to a website that is accessible 
to all users. We’ve taken on board international 
guidance and web accessibility legislation about 
how to do this.

Our accessibility statement provides details on the 
steps we’ve taken. We review the site and make 
updates to improve access regularly.

Need more help?
If you need more help accessing this consultation, or 
need the material in a different format, please email: 
equalitiesconsultation@lbhf.gov.uk or call 
020 8753 1040.

Previous page: Residents join our annual CommUnity Day celebrations and our fight against racism, a Fulham Cross Academy 
pupil takes part in the annual H&F Chef of the Year competition, local business winners at our annual H&F Brilliant Business Awards 
ceremony, an Adult Education class at the Macbeth Centre in Hammersmith, and members of the independent, resident-led Women’s 
Equality Commission get to work, Youth Takeover Challenge day at Chelsea FC, a same sex wedding ceremony.

Page 30

http://www.lbhf.gov.uk/equality
mailto:equalitiesconsultation%40lbhf.gov.uk?subject=


8 | Consultation on our Draft Equalities Plan 2021-25

Our Draft Equalities Plan – 
the protected characteristics
There are nine protected characteristics and in the 
following pages we outline five key draft objectives 
to focus on deliverable outcomes.

Protected 
characteristics

Age

Disability

Sex

Gender 
reassignment

RaceReligion 
or belief

Sexual 
orientation

Marriage 
and civil 

partnership

Pregnancy 
and maternity

Page 31



 Consultation on our Draft Equalities Plan 2021-25 | 9

Our draft objectives
Objective 1 
Everyone in our borough 
must feel valued when the 
Covid-19 pandemic ends
We aim to foster an environment in which all residents, 
workers and borough visitors feel valued, included, safe from 
discrimination and prejudice and that our public services are 
responsive to their needs.

The Covid-19 pandemic of 2020 has highlighted the 
importance and impact of community wellbeing and 
collaboration. Our goal is to keep this at the heart of our public 
health response and draw on it to strengthen wider community 
and social cohesion.

We want to ensure that everyone in Hammersmith & Fulham 
is free from the fear of attack or abuse on the basis of their 
age, disability, sex, gender reassignment, pregnancy and 
maternity, race, religion or belief and sexual orientation or any 
other factor that defines their unique identity, that they are 
not isolated from wider society and that they have access to 
a healthy environment.

As a local authority, we use our limited powers and resources 
to enable us to achieve these objectives as far as we can. 
We work in partnership with other agencies and look to 
central government to provide supportive legislation and 
enforcement to promote equality.

The council’s workstreams 
already supporting this 
objective include:

• Tackling health inequalities and 
disproportionate impact.

• Tackling social isolation and 
loneliness.

• Supporting greater community 
participation, volunteering 
and involvement.

• Delivering environmental 
improvements, e.g. cycle paths 
and pocket-sized areas of seating 
and greenery called “parklets”.

• Tackling poverty, homelessness 
and rough sleeping.

• Supporting local businesses and 
access to good quality jobs.

This page: One of four new community green spaces 
opened in Hammersmith Grove.

Page 32



10 | Consultation on our Draft Equalities Plan 2021-25
Page 33



 Consultation on our Draft Equalities Plan 2021-25 | 11

Objective 2 
Removing barriers to inclusion
Our objective is to establish Hammersmith & Fulham as 
the most accessible and inclusive borough in the country. 
We’re connecting with more and more residents to identify 
the challenges and barriers they face. Those connections have 
grown stronger during the pandemic.

Following the recommendations of our local Disabled People’s 
Commission, led by local Disabled residents, our aim is for all 
residents to be involved in developing and co-producing all 
council policies and strategies that impact on their lives.

We recognise that as well as facing discrimination on individual 
grounds of age, disability, sex, gender reassignment, pregnancy 
and maternity, race, religion or belief and sexual orientation 
our residents can face discrimination for more than one reason. 
The push for greater inclusion and equality will increasingly 
identify those different experiences so that they are reflected in 
what we do.

The work we’re doing is all about ‘Doing things with residents 
and not to them’. Co-production (working together) is a way 
for us to make that happen in practice and includes everyone. 
The work we’ve been doing shows that we can be successful 
in bringing about inclusive change if we adopt the approach of 
‘Nothing About Us Without Us’ with residents and staff.

The council’s workstreams 
already supporting this 
objective include:

• Co-producing council policies and 
strategies with those they impact.

• Ensuring the Civic Campus 
development is co-produced, 
inclusive and fully accessible.

• Working with residents to 
co-produce more public projects 
such as White City.

• Developing our Independent 
Living vision with residents to 
support more choice and control 
over support and services in areas 
such as social care, housing, 
employment and education.

• Recruiting residents to support 
the delivery of our new Disabled 
People’s Housing Strategy.

• Developing resources with 
community organisations so 
residents can feel confident to 
get involved if they want to.

• Challenging digital exclusion 
and connecting residents with 
council services.

• Continuing to foster a resident 
focused culture within the council.

All our work is about building 
good, inclusive, relationships 
with residents.

Previous page: Year 11 pupils conduct an experiment 
at Imperial College in White City. This page: 
Councillor Sue Fennimore presents the final report 
of the independent Disabled Residents’ Commission 
alongside members of the commission.

Page 34



12 | Consultation on our Draft Equalities Plan 2021-25
Page 35



 Consultation on our Draft Equalities Plan 2021-25 | 13

Objective 3 
Ensuring that our services tackle 
the disproportionate impact on 
young people of the risks of street 
crime and exploitation by gangs
Our values include economic prosperity for all. We want to 
ensure that all children and young people at risk of gangs 
and street crime receive the critical services and interventions 
available to better equip them to secure positive opportunities 
and bright futures.

Over the past eighteen months the borough has seen an 
increase in serious youth violence, largely attributed to 
organised gang activity. In response, we’ve set up a new 
Gangs, Violence and Exploitation Unit, in partnership with the 
Metropolitan Police Service, tasked with keeping people safe, 
preventing young people from being victimised or exploited 
by organised criminals and tackling the fear of crime.

The council’s workstreams 
already supporting this 
objective include:

• Getting the most value from our 
new dedicated Gangs unit.

• Embedding The N E T, our 
expanded street Neighbourhood 
Enforcement Team.

• Developing a safer streets 
and gang strategy.

• Continuing to tackle hate 
related crime.

• Delivering the Prevent strategy 
(which identifies and engages 
with individuals who may be 
susceptible to being radicalised 
and drawn into terrorist activities).

• Promoting inter-generational 
initiatives that are proven to 
deliver greater community 
cohesion and a better 
understanding of the different 
challenges affecting younger 
and older people.

• Ensuring that the Hammersmith 
& Fulham’s Industrial Strategy 
responds to the needs of young 
people and is a catalyst for 
boosting career opportunities and 
enterprise in growth sectors, 
such as digital media and science, 
technology, engineering and 
mathematics (STEM) industries.

Previous page: H&F Council Leader Stephen Cowan 
and Deputy Leader Sue Fennimore launch the new 
Gangs, Violence and Exploitation Unit, in partnership 
with the Metropolitan Police.

Page 36



14 | Consultation on our Draft Equalities Plan 2021-25
Page 37



 Consultation on our Draft Equalities Plan 2021-25 | 15

Objective 4 
Improving opportunities for all
We want to create opportunities for residents and communities 
of all backgrounds to flourish, developing their skills and abilities 
in their chosen career paths. 

We’ll use our influence, powers and resources to ensure that 
borough residents have full access to training, enterprise and 
career opportunities, to help them reach their full potential and 
fulfil their aspirations. No one should face any disadvantage in 
the labour market in Hammersmith & Fulham.

The council’s workstreams 
already supporting this 
objective include:

• Ensuring our Industrial Strategy 
helps tackle a post-Covid-19 
recession in collaboration with key 
anchor institutions and business, 
regional and pan-London partners.

• Targeted employment and training 
initiatives, including:

 — Earn while you Learn initiative: 
expanding council and 
borough-wide apprenticeship 
activity, from entry level to 
advanced and improving access 
for all residents.

 — Growing our Supported 
Interns programme.

 — Rebooting Workzone: our 
borough-wide employment 
brokerage service so we 
better support access for all 
residents to good jobs and 
skills opportunities.

 — Beam programmes: helping 
homeless people get the 
training and support they need 
to access skilled jobs.

• Promoting adult learning and 
skills training and building greater 
access to employability and 
life-long learning for all.

• Valuing the voices of the Youth 
Council in all our work.

Previous page: Working with Imperial College 
means we can encourage young people to fulfil their 
potential in science and technology, Youth Parliament 
at Hammersmith Town Hall 2017, H&F and Beam are 
helping homeless people get the training they need 
to access skilled jobs, International Day of Persons 
with Disabilities event at Hammersmith Town Hall. 
This page: Duke at Pedal Back Cycling in Fulham, 
Adult education courses at H&F’s Macbeth Centre.

Page 38



16 | Consultation on our Draft Equalities Plan 2021-25
Page 39



 Consultation on our Draft Equalities Plan 2021-25 | 17

Objective 5 
Becoming an employer of choice 
and fostering greater inclusion
We want to recruit from all sections of our community to 
ensure that the council’s workforce reflects the borough’s 
diversity whilst creating an environment where all staff feel 
secure and confident in being themselves. 

We believe that the council cannot ensure the delivery of equal 
opportunities and equal treatment and inclusion for its residents 
and service users, if its workforce doesn’t reflect the community 
it serves. We aim to employ a workforce that represents 
our borough’s demographic, one that is treated equally and 
respectfully with all its differences embraced and celebrated. 

The council is working on its pledge to ensure equality of 
opportunity among staff and potential recruits. We’ll lead by 
example. We’ll monitor our own standards to make sure we 
achieve and maintain an inclusive workforce at all levels of 
the organisation through coaching, mentoring, job carving 
and career pathways.

The council’s workstreams 
already supporting this 
objective include:

• People and Talent initiatives, e.g. 
Get Ahead (promoting internal 
staff development opportunities).

• Recruitment and selection policies 
and procedures – maximising 
inclusive career opportunities for 
residents and young people.

• Inclusion matters – developing 
a participative staff culture (e.g. 
H&F Way, a staff led initiative).

• Tackling race inequality initiatives 
in response to the Black Lives 
Matter movement.

• Communicating with our 
customers – improving 
customer services.

Previous page: H&F Council aims to be a fully 
inclusive employer. However, focusing on inclusion 
does not mean that we don’t need to think, talk or 
take action around issues of diversity and equality. 
This page: Earn While You Learn (apprenticeships).

Page 40



18 | Consultation on our Draft Equalities Plan 2021-25

A volunteer at the Hammersmith & Fulham 
Foodbank helps package a parcel for a 
resident in need.

Page 41



 Consultation on our Draft Equalities Plan 2021-25 | 19

How the council is doing as 
an employer – a snapshot
We employ 2,090 people and work well with a good number of 
contractors. The opportunity to be an exemplar employer for equality, 
diversity and inclusion is something we are striving towards.

Workforce by gender, December 2020*

Female 
55.7%

Male 
44.3%

Total workforce: 2,090

H&F working age population by gender, 2020

Female 
49.7%

Male 
50.3%

Total H&F population: 180,000

Workforce by ethnicity, December 2020*

Black 
23.99%

Asian 
8.01%

Preferred 
not to say 
18.63%

Other 
0.69%

White 
43.07%

Mixed Ethnicity 
5.6%

Total workforce: 2,090

H&F working age population by ethnicity, 2020

Black 
10.6%

Asian 
8.6%

Other 
9.1%

White 
67.2%

Mixed Ethnicity 
4.5%

Total H&F population: 180,000

*At the council we are promoting a ‘share not declare’ initiative with staff and are pleased to see that more staff are sharing their data.

Page 42



www.lbhf.gov.uk/equality © Hammersmith & Fulham Council January 2021

Page 43

http://www.lbhf.gov.uk/equality


  

London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham  
 
Report to: Finance, Commercial Revenue and Contract Policy & 

Accountability  Committee 
 
 
Date:  31 March 2021 
 
SUBJECT: 2022 BUDGET CONTEXT 
 
Report of:  Director of Finance – Emily Hill 
 
Responsible Director:  Director of Finance – Emily Hill 
 

 
SUMMARY 
 

This report sets out the background to the medium term financial planning 
process.  
 
An update is provided on the national finances and the financial impact of  
ongoing austerity on Hammersmith & Fulham. Looking forward, the council 
is expected to continue to face significant financial challenges that will 
require the delivery of a robust savings and efficiency programme and 
generation of additional income. 
 
The financial framework within which local authorities operate is very 
uncertain. A series of short-term local government finance settlements, and 
lack of clarity on potentially significant future funding reform, is impeding 
effective long-term financial planning. 
 

1. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 

1.1. To note the financial background to the 2022 budget and comment as 
appropriate. 
 

1.2. To identify and discuss potential revenue generation or savings 
opportunities which are expected to be required to address potential 
funding reductions or meet demand led financial pressures.  
 

 

 
Wards Affected: All 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 44

Agenda Item 5



  

H&F Priorities 
 

Our Priorities Summary of how this report aligns to the 
H&F Priorities  

Being ruthlessly financially 
efficient 

We need to always confirm that spend fits 
our Council’s priorities; challenge how much 
needs to be spent; and achieve results 
within agreed budgets. Finance is 
everyone’s business and every penny 
counts.   

 
Financial Impact  

 
This report is wholly financial in nature and those implications are 

contained within the detailed report. 

 

Contact Officer(s): 
 
Name:  Emily Hill  
Position: Director of Finance  
Telephone: 020 8753 3145 
Email:  emily.hill@lbhf.gov.uk 
 
Name:   Andrew Lord  
Position:  Head of Strategic Planning and Monitoring 
Telephone: 020 8753 2531 
Email:  andrew.lord@lbhf.gov.uk 
 

 
Background Papers Used in Preparing This Report 

 
Not Applicable 
 

  

Page 45

mailto:andrew.lord@lbhf.gov.uk


  

DETAILED REPORT 

National context  

1. Within the context of significant uncertainty over the future of public finances 
and local government funding, Hammersmith & Fulham funding is likely to be 
impacted in the following ways: 

 Overall local authority funding is unlikely to increase significantly over 
the next 4 years. 

 Grant funding may, at best, keep pace with inflation (a real terms freeze) 
but could be subject to further cuts. 

 So-called ‘fair funding’ and ‘levelling-up’ policy decisions may impact on 
funding streams such as the new homes bonus grant. Inner London is 
likely to see cuts, or below average increases, in funding despite high 
levels of deprivation.  

 Changes in the government’s core spending power are likely to continue 
to assume significant local tax increases. 

 The government’s failure to address the underlying funding issues will 
result in more authorities around the country experiencing 
unmanageable financial pressures. 

 
2. After a decade of austerity, local government finances remain under 

pressure. Despite an increase in the level and complexity of demand for 
local authority services, overall local government spending is still lower, in 
cash and real terms, than in 2010/11. Per person spending was 23%1 less in 
2019/20 than 2010/11.  

 
3. The cuts to government funding have contributed to several authorities 

facing a precarious financial position. This has been highlighted by the 
issuing of section 1142 notices at Northamptonshire County Council and the 
London Borough of Croydon. A section 114 notice, which is issued by the 
chief finance officer, imposes emergency spending controls and bans all 
new expenditure, with the exception of statutory services for protecting 
vulnerable people. There are concerns that further section 114 notices will 
need to be issued around the country in the sector the forthcoming year. 

 
4. Another indication of the pressures facing local government was the 

additional support, announced as part of the 2021/22 Local Government 
Finance Settlement, to help a small number of councils who are unable to 
balance their budgets in 2020/21 or 2021/22. Within London, central 
government has given Croydon permission to use £70m of capital resources 

                                            
1
 Institute for Fiscal Studies. 23% is the real terms reduction excluding public health for which 

responsibility was transferred from the NHS to local government. Reduction including public health is 
17%. 
2  Section 114 of The Local Government Finance Act 1988,states:that ‘The chief finance officer of a 

relevant authority shall make a report under this section if it appears to him that the expenditure of 
the authority incurred (including expenditure it proposes to incur) in a financial year is likely to exceed 

resources (including sums borrowed) available to it to meet that expenditure.’ 

Page 46



  

on revenue spending in order to balance its budget, with another £50m likely 
to follow, and given permission to Bexley to capitalise £3.87m in 2020/21. 

5. The financial strain is compounded by the impact of the Covid-19 pandemic. 
In the short-term any shortfall in government funding, for the extra costs 
incurred and lost income, will further stretch local authority finances. In the 
medium term there are risks of pent-up demand as Covid-19 restrictions are 
lifted. In the long-term the impact on public finances and the wider economy 
will be felt for several years. The government’s March Budget 2021 
announcement predicted that the latest lockdown measures, and severe 
reductions in trade with the European Union, are expected to cause growth 
to fall by 3.8% in the first quarter of 2021. Overall output will be 11% below 
pre-pandemic levels. It will be mid-2022 before Gross Domestic Product 
(GDP) returns to the 2019 level and output is forecast to be 3% lower in the 
medium term relative to its pre-pandemic path. Public sector net debt is 
forecast to increase from 84% of GDP in 2019 to over 100% in 2020 and 
peak at 110% in 2023. 

 
6. The National Audit Office (NAO) have issued a report (March 2021) on local 

government finance in the pandemic. It notes that the pandemic has placed 
significant pressures on local authorities’ finances, which in many cases 
were already under strain. They conclude that the financial position of local 
government is a cause for concern. Many authorities will be relying on 
reserves to balance their 2020/21 year-end budgets with an uncertain 
outlook for 2021/22. They estimate that 1.5% of authorities are at acute risk 
of financial failure whilst 5.9% are in the high-risk category and 27.3% in 
medium-risk. They noted that many authorities are setting budgets for 
2021/22 in which they have limited confidence, and which are 
balanced through cuts to service budgets and the use of reserves (it should 
be noted that this is not the case in LBHF, which set a budget for 2021/22 
without any cuts to services and which makes contributions to reserves).  
The NAO has commented that ”Government needs a plan to help the sector 
recover from the pandemic and also to address the longstanding need for 
financial reform in the sector”. 
 

7. The deterioration in public finances, and economic outlook, will inform the 
expected 2021 government spending review (SR21). The SR21 is due to set 
out government’s overall spending plans over the medium-term. The 
Institute for Fiscal Studies (IFS) have commented that under the March 2021 
Budget, departmental spending will reduce between £14bn-£17bn per year 
for the following three years compared with pre-Covid-19 plans. This figure is 
around £4bn more than the drop in departmental funding forecast at the 
Spending Review in November 2020.  As the NHS, schools and the Ministry 
of Defence all have budgets fixed in cash terms until later in the Parliament, 
this extra £4bn cut will fall entirely on other, unprotected services. Those 
areas – including local government – are now facing real-terms cuts in 
2022/23. At best any funding increases for local government are likely to be 
modest (and based on most recent local government finance settlements, 
funded through local taxation increases) with a risk of a renewed ‘austerity’ 
programme. 

 

Page 47



  

8. For 2021/22 the Local Government Finance Settlement (LGFS) calculated a 
4.5% increase in local authority core spending power. However, only 1.8% of 
this related to increased grant funding. The balance related to assumed 
council tax increases (2%), use of the adult social care precept (3%) and 
sums relating to business rates.  
 

9. A gradual shift in the funding of local government from central sources to 
local taxation has been happening for several years. At a national level the 
proportion of local authority core spending power funded from council tax 
has increased from 49% in 2015/16 to 60% in 2021/22. Given the issues 
facing the national finances it is anticipated that this trend will continue. 
 

10. For a second year running, a single year LGFS was issued in 2021/22. 
Expectations of a multi-year settlement were put on hold due to the Covid-19 
pandemic and it is not clear whether a multi-year settlement will be provided 
for 2022/23 onwards. This means that there is a lack of certainty regarding 
the government’s future funding plans particularly as government have 
indicated that they wish to consider several reforms to the local government 
finance system.  The so-called ‘fair funding’ review, business rates, the New 
Homes Bonus grant and how to organise and finance adult social care are 
all issues that will be potentially subject to reform. The underlying 
government commitment to ‘levelling-up’ is likely to mean that any changes 
are likely to be at the expense of Inner London boroughs, despite their high 
levels of deprivation.  
 
 

Hammersmith & Fulham context 

 

Austerity 

 
11. In May 2010 the Coalition Government introduced a policy of austerity in 

large areas of public finances. Since that date the Hammersmith & Fulham 
budget requirement has reduced by 28% from £227m to £164m.  As set out 
in Table 1 the main driver of this reduction has been a cut in government 
grant of £64m.  

 
Table 1 – Budget change from 2010/11 to 2021/22 
 

Expenditure Resources 

2010/11 base budget £227m 2010/11 base budget £227m 

Cumulative adjustments:    

Inflation/ new burdens £51m Lower grant (£64m) 

Growth £76m Increase in council tax £4m 

Savings (£190m) Shortfall in business 
rates income 

(£3m) 

2021/22 budget £164m 2021/22 budget £164m 

 
12. In order to balance the annual budget, cumulative budget savings have 

exceeded budget growth, mainly increased expenditure to meet the costs of 

Page 48



  

demand led services, by £114m since 2010/11 (Table 2). As budgets have 
reduced the identification of further new savings has become increasingly 
difficult whilst protecting against service cuts.  
 

Table 2 - Savings and growth from 2014/15 
 

 
 

13. The 2021/22 Band D council tax charge for Hammersmith & Fulham is 
£778.40 (excluding the GLA precept and adult social care) compared to 
£811.78 in 2010/11, a cash decrease of £33.38 (4%). This is 29% lower, 
£235, in real terms.  
 

14. The national average council tax increase from 2010/11 to 2020/21 was 26% 
and is expected to exceed 30% by 2021/22. Had Hammersmith & Fulham 
increased council tax in line with the national average then the 2021/22 
Band D charge would be £223 higher (equivalent to additional council 
income of £18m).  
 
The 2021/22 budget  

 
15. The 2021/22 budget provides for a balanced budget with measures to 

strengthen the Council’s future financial resilience by contributing one-off 
resources of £1.1m to general balances and setting aside a one-off Covid-19 
contingency of £1.1m. These reflect the increased level of risk in the budget. 
A comparison against the previous two years is set out in Table 3. A 
summary of departmental spend is set out in Appendix 1. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

0

5,000

10,000

15,000

20,000

25,000

30,000

2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22

Savings have exceeded growth by £61m  

Savings growth

Page 49



  

 
Table 3 – Council budget 2019/20 to 2021/22 
 

 
2019/20 

£000s 
2020/21 

£000s 
2021/22 

£000s 

Base gross budget rolled forward  151,765 154,280 156,902 

Plus/minus:    

Inflation  2,984 4,283 4,132 

Investment/ Growth and impact of Covid-19  10,583 6,832 7,885 

Increase in the net cost of borrowing 200 1,500 800 

Savings and change proposals  (10,305) (12,853) (6,689) 

Adjustment for one off items 0 969 (1,100) 

One-off Covid-19 contingency 0 0 1,096 

New contribution to general balances / reserves  0 7,167 1,100 

Gross budget requirement 155,227 162,169 164,126 

Revenue Support Grant 0* (17,410) (17,506) 

Other general grants (12,568) (16,789) (20,772) 

Use of developer contributions  (3,300) (1,700) (1,700) 

Collection Fund /other one off funding items (4,869)) (5,267) 400 

Locally retained business rates  (74,095) (57,217) (57,217) 

Council Tax (60,395) (63,786) (67,331) 

Gross resources (155,227) (162,169) (164,126) 

* the London Business rates pilot pool in 2019/20 meant that resources included in Revenue 

Support Grant were retained by the Council through the locally retained business rates 
instead  

 
16. The budget proposals included a 1.99% increase in council tax and 3% adult 

social care precept, in line with government modelling. These measures will 
generate £3.2m of income per annum. A summary of the savings and growth 
is set out in Table 4. The growth largely reflects increased expenditure on 
demand led services and includes one-off sums of £2.7m for 2021/22 that 
address Covid-19 pressures and the potential impact of an economic 
recession. 

 
Table 4 – 2021/22 savings and growth 
 

   Growth 
 
 

£m 

Savings/ 
additional 

income 
£m 

Net  
 
 

£m 

Children's Services 1.6 (0.7) 0.9 

Social Care  2.4 (2.0) 0.4 

Reinvestment of public health 0 (0.9) (0.9) 

The Economy 1.2 (1.1) 0.1 

Environment (including Parking) 1.1 (1.1) 0 

Finance 0.1 (0.4) (0.3) 

Resources 0 (0.5) (0.5) 

Council Wide 1.5 0 1.5 

Total 7.9 (6.7) 1.2 

Page 50



  

 
17. The impact of Covid-19 on Hammersmith & Fulham and the wider economy 

is uncertain. The government have announced that the fees and charges 
grant compensation scheme3 will continue in the first quarter of 2021/22 and 
that a new un-ringfenced emergency Covid-19 pressures grant of £6.2m will 
be receivable in 2021/22 for the first quarter of the financial year. The 
Contain Outbreak Management Fund will also continue for the first two 
months of 2021/22 but it is not clear whether other Covid-19 funding will 
continue. There is a risk that such funding will be insufficient to fully 
compensate the council for the extra costs incurred and income lost. The  
financial impact of a third national lockdown measures, and any actions 
required regarding further Covid-19 variants,  may well  extend beyond the 
first quarter of the new financial year.  
 

18. Hammersmith & Fulham has set aside a contingency of £1.1m to mitigate 
against such future risk and funded one-off growth of £2.7m regarding 
expected Covid-19 pressures. This will continue to be monitored closely 
throughout the year. This compares to the council’s latest forecast4 that 
Covid-19 will result in unfunded in-year general fund pressures of £2.5m in 
2020/21. In addition to any direct costs of the Council’s Covid-19 response 
or lost revenues, there is also a risk of pent-up demand presenting as 
restrictions are lifted and potential increased demand for services as a result 
of the economic downturn.  
 

19. The financial challenge facing Hammersmith & Fulham is not restricted to 
the General Fund. The 2021/22 Housing Revenue Account (HRA) budget 
report detailed a series of emergent additional pressures that need to be 
addressed. There is a need to seek opportunities that raise additional 
income and to find further efficiencies that do not impact on service delivery. 
The financial pressures facing the HRA need to be taken account of within 
the council’s future financial planning. 
 

Future budget challenge  

 

20.  Financial planning is underway regarding the 2022 budget process. Key 

issues that need to be considered include: 

 The provision of sufficient budget headroom to meet demographic and 

demand growth expenditure pressures. 

 Allowance for inflation. 

 Modelling future business rates income. 

 Modelling future government grant support. 

 Future risks. 

Demographic and Demand Pressures  

                                            
3
 The scheme compensates local authority for 75% of income lost, above a 5% budget threshold, from 

sales fees and charges. It excludes commercial income. 
4
 2020/21 Corporate Revenue Monitor month 6  

Page 51



  

 
21. Over the past five years trend data has identified an increase in demand 

across a range of council services. Examples include: 

 An increase in the number of adult social care clients supported in 
placements and at home. For example, the number of clients receiving 
home care packages of 28, or more, hours per week has increased by 
20%.  

 An increase in the number of looked after children and number of 
children receiving travel care and support. Since 2017/18 the number of 
looked after children has increased by 14%. The number of students 
receiving transport has increased by 13%. 

 An increase in the number of homeless enquires/approaches of 73% 
from 2016/17 to 2019/20. 

 
22. The increase in demand for needs-based council services is set to continue  

over the medium term. Key drivers are: 

 Claimant count unemployment has more than doubled within 
Hammersmith & Fulham over the past 12 months. The current claimant 
rate has increased by 4.7% to 8.2%5. The national average rate is 6.3%. 

 Population growth. The latest Office for National Statistics (ONS) 
forecast is for a growth in the Hammersmith & Fulham population of 
6.3% from mid-2018 to mid-2028. The forecast growth for England is 
5%. 

 The ONS forecast that the number of households in Hammersmith & 
Fulham will increase from 80,466 in 2018 to 85,926 in 2028. 

 The proportion of people aged 65 and over, for England, is forecast to 
increase from 18.2% to 20.7% from mid-2018 to mid-2028.  

 
23. The Council’s financial planning will need to provide headroom for such 

demand and emergent spend pressures. Over the past 5 years the 
average budget growth has been £8.7m. Managing down the budget growth 
required to fund unavoidable demand and demographic pressures will be a 
key part of the future budget strategy to ensure a balanced budget. 
 
Inflation 

 
24. Provision of £4.1m was set aside for contract inflation in 2021/22. 

 
25. For 2022/23 financial planning the council will need to determine: 

 What contingency should be set aside to cover pay inflation. A pay 
award of 1% costs an estimated £0.95m. The pay award for 
Hammersmith & Fulham is agreed nationally by local government pay 
negotiations. 

 What sum should be modelled for potential contract inflation.  
 

26. At a national level, inflation is relatively low (the January Consumer Price 
Index is 0.7%). As the economy recovers from the Covid-19 pandemic the 

                                            
5
 Office for National Statistics Labour Market statistics for January 2021. 

Page 52



  

Governor of the Bank of England has said6 it is likely that the inflation rate 
will rise relatively quickly towards the governments long term 2% target over 
the next few months. 
 

27. For Hammersmith & Fulham the need to support key suppliers providers and 

support the London Living Wage, particularly in the social care market has 

resulted in contract inflation significantly above CPI. Such costs pressures 

are likely to be on-going and in relation to social care exacerbated by 

additional costs in relation to Covid-19. If inflationary pressures can be 

reduced, for example through contract review and discussion with suppliers, 

this will reduce future budget pressures and the need to identify further 

savings. 

 
Business rates 

 
28. The business rates retention system is subject to unprecedented 

uncertainty and instability. The system has changed in each of the past five 
years whilst the strain placed by the Covid-19 pandemic on business 
finances has seen a marked increase in business rates debt and business 
closure. Significant reliefs were granted and funded by the government in 
2020/21 and will continue, at a lower level, in 2021/22. 
 

29. Further uncertainty has arisen regarding reports that the Valuation Office 
Agency (VOA) is working with rating agents to consider reductions to 
rateable values across a wide variety of sectors in response to the effects of 
the Covid-19 pandemic. The result of these discussions is expected to be a 
temporary Material Change in Circumstance (MCC) reduction which will 
apply to almost every property sector including offices, retail, airports, 
stadiums, car parks and factories. The effect could result in reductions in 
business rates in both 2020/21 and 2021/22. It is not possible to quantify the 
potential impact on Hammersmith & Fulham although reductions could range 
from 20% to 70%. This level of reduction could have a catastrophic impact 
on the national business rate system, for example a 20% reduction would 
result in reducing collectable business rates income for Hammersmith & 
Fulham by more than £50m (based on a 1 year reduction).  
 

30. The government are undertaking a fundamental review of business rates 
with three objectives to:  

 reduce the overall burden on businesses 

 improve the current business rates system 

 considering fundamental changes in the medium-to-long term, 
including a potential switch to part funding the current business rates 
burden through an online tax. 

 
31. A minimum amount of funding, known as the safety net threshold, is 

currently guaranteed through the business rates system. The safety net for 

                                            
6
 Governor of the Bank of England – interview 15 march. 

Page 53



  

Hammersmith & Fulham is £57.2m and the ongoing instability in the 
government’s approach to business rates, and impact of Covid-19, and the 
Council’s historical experience of business rate appeals makes it likely that 
future financial planning will be based on this sum. 

Government funding  
 

32. Government resources are uncertain beyond the one year local 
government finance settlement announced for 2021/22:  

 a Spending Review 2021 is due to be published in the autumn; this will 
identify the quantum of money made available to support local 
government. 

 a consultation on the new homes bonus grant scheme has been 
launched. This scheme originally provided a financial reward (based on 
the national Band D council tax charge) to authorities for six years 
based on the annual increase in the number of dwellings. The scheme 
has become less generous and now just provides a reward for three 
years above an assumed threshold increase. The 2021/22 grant 
allocation to Hammersmith & Fulham reduced by £1.6m to £5.2m.  

 long awaited proposals are due on the provision and funding of adult 
social care.  

 the government have previously flagged up their intention to consult on 
a so-called ‘Fair Funding’ review. If undertaken this will look at the 
distribution of funding between authorities and will form part of the 
‘levelling-up’ agenda. 

 
33. The current general grants receivable by Hammersmith & Fulham are set out 

in Table 5. Further to the March 2021 national budget statement the Institute 
for Fiscal Studies commented that local government can expect a real terms 
government funding cut. Hammersmith & Fulham is also at risk regarding the 
governments ‘levelling-up’ agenda and reform of the new homes bonus 
grant. Officers continue to review the grants forecast but there is a downside 
risk that the Hammersmith & Fulham grant allocation will reduce in cash 
terms. 

 
Table 5 –  General grant funding 
 

Page 54



  

 
 

34. Funding for several specific grants, such as public health grant, has not 
been confirmed by Government beyond 2021/22. The resource forecast 
assumes that such grants will be on-going at current levels.  

 
 
Risks 
 

35. The past year has demonstrated that the future is uncertain. There are 
several significant issues that may impact on the future forecast but which 
we cannot predict at this point. These include: 

 Covid-19. It is still too early to assess what impact Covid-19 will have 
on the Council’s finances, future financial resilience and the wider 
economy in the short and medium-term. 

 Recession. The depth and duration of the current recession is 
uncertain. The current assumptions that underpin the forecast, such as 
the impact on council tax income or demand for services, may prove 
insufficient. 

 Brexit. The impact on economic growth, inflation and the wider labour 
market is unknown.  

 Devolution and local government reform. Future changes regarding 
the role of local government, such as social care, have been under 
discussion. As yet there is no clear government policy direction. 

 Funding reform. Government commitment to reform regarding 
business rates, ‘fair funding’ and levelling-up is unknown.  

 
36. Reserves are an important element in managing risk and enabling 

investment to deliver future savings. They are an important element in 
ensuring financial resilience and have been a key focus for the council. A 
reserves strategy was included in the 2021/22 budget papers considered by 
Budget Council. 
 

 
Summary  

2020/21  2021/22 

£000s £000s

Revenue Support Grant 17,410         17,506    

Other unringfenced grants

New Homes Bonus 6,863           5,274      

Housing Benefit Administration 966              966          2021/22 allocation estimated

Localised Council Tax Support Administration 316              316          2021/22 allocation estimated

Independent Living Fund 772              772          

Compensation for change in business rates multiplier 2,479           3,223      Inflationary increase funded by grant.

Social Care Support 5,956           7,994      

Levy Account Surplus 207              

Any levy receivable will be added as a 

one off to be budgeted to reserves. 

Lower tier services grant 872          New for 2021/22

Total other unringfenced grants (ongoing) 17,559         19,417    

One-off grants

Covid-19 local council tax support scheme grant 1,355      New for 2021/22 

Total general grants 34,969         38,278    

Page 55

http://democracy.lbhf.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=114&MId=7043&Ver=4


  

 
37. In summary: 

 Since 2010/11 the annual Hammersmith & Fulham budget has 
reduced by £63m to £164m. This has diminished the council’s 
capacity to deliver further savings. 

 H&F council tax has increased by 2.5% in cash terms since 2010/11 
compared to the national average increase of 30%. 

 The Covid-19 pandemic has placed extra strain on the council’s and 
national finances. 

 Demand, demographic and inflationary pressures are on-going and 
need to be addressed through the future budget process. 

 The business rates retention scheme is overly complex and has been 
hit hard by the Covid-19 pandemic. There is unlikely to be any upside 
for Hammersmith & Fulham in 2022/23. 

 The local authority sector is unlikely to see significant uplifts in 
government funding. Inner London will potentially fare much worse 
than the average authority due to ‘levelling-up’. There is a downside 
risk of a cash grant reduction for Hammersmith & Fulham. 

 There are significant future risks that are not yet possible to model. 

 The financial framework within which local authorities operate is very 
uncertain. A series of short-term local government finance settlements 
and lack of clarity on potential future reform is undermining effective 
long-term planning. 

 
38. Officers continue to develop the budget assumptions as part of the 2022 

budget and Medium Term Financial Strategy process. The financial outlook 
remains challenging. 

 
 
Appendices 
 
Appendix 1 –  Revenue expenditure and income by department 
 

  

Page 56



  

Appendix 1 
 
 

Revenue expenditure and income 2021/22 (£m)  
(2020/21 budgets shaded) 
 

Department 
Gross 
expenditure 

Gross 
income 

Net expenditure 

Children's Services 
72.68  -21.59  51.09  

69.42  -19.22  50.20  

The Economy  
48.48  -41.98  6.50  

46.10  -41.10  5.00  

Environment (includes parking) 
107.69  -66.76  40.94  

104.70  -63.39  41.32  

Finance 
10.75  -9.88  0.87  

11.32  -11.60  -0.29  

Resources 
26.80  -21.98  4.82  

29.81  -25.33  4.48  

Social Care 
109.21  -52.04  57.17  

111.18  -55.83  55.35  

Central Items (includes housing 
benefit payments and grant) 

120.43  -117.70  2.73  

123.29  -117.19  6.10  

Total 
496.04 -331.92 164.12 

495.82 -333.66 162.16 

 

Page 57


	Agenda
	1 Minutes of the previous meeting
	Minutes of the previous meeting - 18 November 2020

	4 H&F Council's Draft Equalities Plan for 2021-2025
	Item 4.1 HF Draft Equalities Plan
	Consultation on our Draft Equalities Plan 2021-25
	Contents 
	H&F Draft Equalities Plan Foreword€from Councillor Sue€Fennimore 
	Fairness and Equality at€the€heart€of€what€we€do 
	Who can participate in this€consultation? 
	Everyone! 
	Take part in our survey 
	To take part and improve Hammersmith &€Fulham Council, please visit: www.lbhf.gov.uk/equality

	Accessing the H&F website 
	Need more help? 

	Our Draft Equalities Plan - the protected characteristics
	Our draft objectives
	Objective 1 Everyone€in€our€borough must€feel€valued when the Covid-19 pandemic ends 
	The council’s workstreams already supporting this objective include: 

	Objective 2 Removing€barriers€to€inclusion 
	The council’s workstreams already supporting this objective include: 

	Objective 3 Ensuring€that€our€services tackle the disproportionate impact on young people of the r
	The council’s workstreams already supporting this objective include: 

	Objective 4 Improving€opportunities€for all 
	The council’s workstreams already supporting this objective include: 

	Objective 5 Becoming€an€employer€of€choice and fostering greater inclusion 
	The council’s workstreams already supporting this objective include: 


	How the council is doing as an employer - a snapshot
	Workforce by gender, December 2020
	H&F working age population by gender, 2020
	Workforce by ethnicity, December 2020
	H&F working age population by ethnicity, 2020




	5 2022 Budget Context



